ORIGINAL.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Oconee County

Alexander S. Macaulay, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

**RECEIVED**

SEP 29 2014

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DAN TEMPLE,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000663  
\_\_\_\_\_

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

CARMEN V. GANJEHSANI  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

The Trial Court erred in denying Appellant's motion to suppress the drug evidence seized during the execution of the search warrant where the affidavit for the search warrant was based on information from a confidential informant that he had received drugs from Appellant and where such affidavit contained no information about the reliability of this informant.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 23, 2013, Appellant Dan Lavert Temple was indicted by the Oconee County Grand Jury for (1) possession of intent to distribute crack cocaine, third offense in violation of S.C. CODE ANN. § 44-53-375; and (2) possession of a controlled substance, second offense, in violation of S.C. CODE ANN. § 44-53-370. R.269.

Appellant was tried before the Honorable Alexander S. Macaulay and a jury on March 18-21, 2013. R. 1. Appellant was represented by R. Delane Rosemond, and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitors Lindsey S. Simmons and Blair S. Stoudemire. Tr. 1.

On March 21, 2013, the jury found Appellant guilty of (1) the lesser included offense of possession of crack cocaine; and (2) possession of a controlled substance. R. 244, ll. 8-18. Judge Macaulay sentenced Appellant to ten years for possession of crack cocaine, third offense and one year for possession of a controlled substance, second offense. Judge Macaulay also sentenced Appellant to five years for a probation violation. The sentences are to run consecutive to each other for a total of sixteen years. R. 255, ll. 4-25.

Appellant timely filed and served a Notice of Appeal on March 23, 2013.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 24, 2012, Officer Tim Hunnicutt of the Seneca Police Department obtained a search warrant to search Room 103 of the Town and Country Motel located at 320 Bypass 123, Seneca, South Carolina. R. 107, l. 14 – 108, l. 20. Officer Hunnicutt testified that he expected to find Appellant at this location. R. 108, l. 24 – 109, l. 1. In his affidavit supporting the search warrant, Officer Hunnicutt averred:

3. That on July 17, 2012 an undercover operative working under the direction of the Seneca Police Department was distributed a quantity of crack cocaine from [Appellant] in the area of the 100 block of Bypass 123 Seneca, SC.
4. That on July 17, 2012 an undercover operative working under the direction of the Seneca Police Department/Oconee Sheriff's Office was distributed a quantity of crack cocaine from [Appellant] in the area of the 100 block of Bypass 123 Seneca, SC.
5. That on July 23, 2012 an undercover operative working under the direction of the Seneca Police Department was distributed a quantity of crack cocaine from [Appellant] in the area of the 1000 block of Bypass 123 Seneca, SC.
6. Within the last 72 hours an undercover operative working under the direction of the Seneca Police Department was distributed a quantity of lortabs from [Appellant] at 318 Bypass 123 in Seneca, SC. [Appellant] was seen walking to and from the Town & County Motel.
7. Within the last 72 hours an undercover operative working under the direction of the Seneca Police Department was given a counterfeit 100 dollar bill by [Appellant] at 318 Bypass 123. He asked the undercover operative to take it to a store and exchange it for real US currency. The undercover operative turned the counterfeit money over to agents. Agents gave the undercover operative 100 dollars in documented funds. The undercover operative met with [Appellant] at the Town & Country Motel and gave [Appellant] the documented funds. [Appellant] was observed by agents exiting and re-entering room 103 at Town & County Motel.

8. Based upon the Undercover Operation on the above listed dates, establishing a continuing criminal enterprise, the affiant believes illegal drugs, proceeds from illegal drug transactions, and drug paraphernalia and counterfeit money will be present at this residence.

R.264 (Court's Ex. 1).

The next day, on July 25, 2012 at approximately eight in the morning, officers executed the search warrant at Room 103 of the Town and Country Motel. R. 35, l. 22 – 111, l. 19; 108, ll. 21-22; 264 [Return to Search Warrant (Court's Ex. 1)]. The officers rammed their way into the motel room and found Appellant lying in bed on the side closest to the door. R. 37, ll. 12-24. The officers yelled at Appellant to put his hands up. R. 38, ll. 106. Officer Mike Teramano then jumped on the bed to secure Appellant. R. 41, ll. 2-25. At that point, Investigator B.J. McClure observed either a purplish or bluish-color prescription bottle fall out of the bed onto the floor closest to the door. R. 38, ll. 5 – 10. Investigator McClure did not see exactly where this pill bottle came from and only remembered that this pill bottle fell from the bed. R. 40, l. 23 – 41, l. 1; 42, ll. 3-7. Officer Hunnicutt also observed this pill bottle on the floor but he too did not see from what direction the bottle came. R. 142, ll. 7-19. It was later determined that this pill bottle contained 1.10 grams of crack cocaine. R. 52, ll. 24-25; 85, ll. 18-22. Officers did not have this bottle examined for fingerprints. R. 68, ll. 18-23.

Officers found a single rock-like substance on the nightstand on the opposite side of the bed where officers saw Appellant. R. 52, ll. 14-21; 55, l. 25 – 131, l. 4; R. 110, ll. 2 -5; 127, ll. 7-10. Officer Hunnicutt also observed two crack pipes on this nightstand, along with ten yellow pills of alprazolam, also known as Xanax. R. 110, ll. 5-6; 128, ll. 7-13; 161, ll. 1 – 18. None of Appellant's personal items were found on the nightstand with the rock-like

substance, crack pipes, and Xanax pills. R. 56, ll. 8-24. The rock-like substance found was determined to be 0.12 grams of crack cocaine. R. 160, ll. 11-16.

Officers found Appellant's girlfriend, Crystal Henry, behind the door to the motel room. R. 42, ll. 18-25. Crystal Henry testified that she had been in a relationship with Appellant and had been with him for a little over a year and a half at the time officers executed the search warrant. R. 60, ll. 7-13. She and Appellant lived together in Room 103 of the Town & Country Motel. R. 60, ll. 14-15. Following the execution of the search warrant, Crystal Henry was also charged with possession with intent to distribute crack cocaine and possession of Xanax. R. 64, l. 25 – 65, l. 3.

On the day officers executed the search warrant, Crystal Henry had been getting high. She testified that a crack pipe found in the room by officers did belong to her. R. 61, ll. 10-18. She further testified that the piece of crack found on the nightstand beside the bed also belonged to her. R. 61, ll. 19-21; 63, ll. 16-19; 67, ll. 2-4; 72, ll. 4-5. She denied that any other drugs found in the room, including the other crack cocaine and Xanax, belonged to her. R. 61, l. 19 – 62, l. 12.

James Willie Walker also testified at trial. He had been a classmate of Appellant and had known him for a long time. R. 181, ll. 8-21. He testified that on July 24, 2012, the night before officers executed the search warrant at Appellant's motel room, Crystal Henry asked him to take her to Pendleton, South Carolina to buy some crack. R. 181, l. 22 – 183, l. 2. Walker drove Crystal Henry and Appellant to Pendleton where Crystal Henry purchased two grams of crack. R. 183, ll. 3-12.

Appellant and Crystal Henry were both charged with possession with intent to distribute crack cocaine and possession of a controlled substance. R. 64, l. 25 – 65, l. 3.

Appellant was convicted by the jury on the lesser included offense of possession of crack cocaine and possession of a controlled substance. Crystal Henry's charges were still pending at the time of Appellant's trial. R. 65, ll. 13 – 18.

## ARGUMENT

**The Trial Court erred in denying Appellant's motion to suppress the drug evidence seized during the execution of the search warrant where the affidavit for the search warrant was based on information from a confidential informant that he had received drugs from Appellant and where such affidavit contained no information about the reliability of this informant.**

During pre-trial motions, defense counsel for Appellant moved to suppress the drugs found in Appellant's motel room where the affidavit in support of the search warrant was not supported by probable cause and lacked any information as to the informant's reliability. R. 10, ll. 7-16; 14, l. 7 – 15, l. 2. The search warrant was based solely upon the alleged receipt of drugs from Appellant to a confidential informant:

3. That on July 17, 2012 an undercover operative working under the direction of the Seneca Police Department was distributed a quantity of crack cocaine from [Appellant] in the area of the 100 block of Bypass 123 Seneca, SC.
4. That on July 17, 2012 an undercover operative working under the direction of the Seneca Police Department/Oconee Sheriff's Office was distributed a quantity of crack cocaine from [Appellant] in the area of the 100 block of Bypass 123 Seneca, SC.
5. That on July 23, 2012 an undercover operative working under the direction of the Seneca Police Department was distributed a quantity of crack cocaine from [Appellant] in the area of the 1000 block of Bypass 123 Seneca, SC.
6. Within the last 72 hours an undercover operative working under the direction of the Seneca Police Department was distributed a quantity of lortabs from [Appellant] at 318 Bypass 123 in Seneca, SC. [Appellant] was seen walking to and from the Town & County Motel.
7. Within the last 72 hours an undercover operative working under the direction of the Seneca Police Department was given a counterfeit 100 dollar bill by [Appellant] at 318 Bypass 123. He asked the undercover operative to take it to a store and exchange it for real US currency. The undercover operative turned the counterfeit money over to agents. Agents gave the undercover operative 100 dollars in documented funds. The undercover operative met with [Appellant]

at the Town & Country Motel and gave [Appellant] the documented funds. [Appellant] was observed by agents exiting and re-entering room 103 at Town & County Motel.

8. Based upon the Undercover Operation on the above listed dates, establishing a continuing criminal enterprise, the affiant believes illegal drugs, proceeds from illegal drug transactions, and drug paraphernalia and counterfeit money will be present at this residence.

R.264 (Court's Ex. 1).

Defense counsel further argued that there was no indication in the search warrant that the informant received drugs from Appellant in a properly conducted controlled buy. R. 16, l. 13 – 17, l. 10. The Trial Court disagreed and denied Appellant's motion to suppress the drug evidence. R. 25, ll. 2-3.

In a case with comparable facts, State v. Philpot, 317 S.C. 458, 454 S.E.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1995) this Court held that a search warrant affidavit was insufficient to establish probable cause for a search of the defendant's residence. In Philpot, an officer of the Pickens County Sheriff's Department signed an affidavit to obtain a search warrant for marijuana and marijuana paraphernalia at the residence of the defendant. The affidavit contained the following statement:

Within the past 72 hours, a confidential informant has seen a quantity of marijuana in the residence to be searched. Also in the past, agents with the Special Operations Div. of the Pickens County Sheriff's Office have received information the [sic] one of the persons who lives at the residence, Jim Philpot, is involved in illicit activity.

317 S.C. at 460, 454 S.E.2d at 906.

Based upon this affidavit, the magistrate issued the search warrant. Officers of the sheriff's department executed the search warrant and seized evidence of marijuana manufacturing and possession. Id.

The defendant moved to suppress the evidence seized during the search because the name of the confidential informant had not been disclosed and the affidavit for the search warrant was

devoid of information as to the informant's reliability. The trial court denied the motion. During cross-examination, the defense counsel asked the officer presenting the affidavit whether he told the magistrate why this informant was dependable and reliable. The officer replied that he had presented the magistrate with a statement from the informant. Defense counsel moved for a production of the statement, and the trial court reviewed the statement and ruled there was nothing in it which would assist the defense and denied the motion to produce. Id. at 460, 454 S.E.2d at 906-07.

On appeal, the defendant asserted that the evidence seized during the execution of the search warrant should have been suppressed because the warrant was not supported by probable cause. More specially, the defendant attacked the failure of the affidavit to address the veracity of the confidential informant. This Court agreed with the defendant's position. Id. at 460, 454 S.E.2d at 907.

This Court first set forth the law regarding the issuance of search warrants by magistrates. "The task of a magistrate when determining whether to issue a warrant is to make a practical, common sense decision as to whether, under the totality of the circumstances set forth in the affidavit, there is a fair probability that evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place. State v. Adolphe, 314 S.C. 89, 441 S.E.2d 832 (Ct. App. 1994). This decision includes consideration of the veracity of the person supplying the information and the basis of his or her knowledge. Id. The affidavit must contain sufficient underlying facts and information upon which the magistrate may make a determination of probable cause. Mere conclusory statements which give the magistrate no basis to make a judgment regarding probable cause are insufficient. State v. Smith, 301 S.C. 371, 392 S.E.2d 182 (1990). If the affidavit alone is insufficient to establish probable cause, it may be supplemented by sworn oral testimony before the magistrate. State v. Johnson, 302 S.C. 243, 395

S.E.2d 167 (1990) An appellate court reviewing the decision to issue the warrant should decide whether the magistrate had a substantial basis for concluding probable cause existed. Adolphe, 314 S.C. 89, 441 S.E.2d 832.” Philpot, 317 S.C. at 461, 454 S.E.2d at 907.

This Court then concluded that the search warrant should not have been issued. The record indicated that the magistrate only had the officer’s affidavit and the written statement of the confidential informant before him. This Court found that the affidavit and written statement contained absolutely no showing of the confidential informant’s reliability. Furthermore, the officer testified at the pre-trial suppression hearing that the magistrate had no information regarding the reliability of the informant making a remand unnecessary under State v. Johnson. This Court held there was no substantial basis for the magistrate to conclude that probable cause for the search existed. Therefore, the evidence obtained as a result of the search warrant was inadmissible. Philpot, 317 S.C at 461, 454 S.E.2d at 907.

The facts of this case are akin to the facts in the Philpot case. Here, the officer’s affidavit was based solely upon information received from an undisclosed confidential informant. The affidavit contained absolutely no information about the reliability of this informants. R.264 (Court’s Ex. 1). In addition, Officer Hunnicutt testified that he took the search warrant to Judge Derrick’s home in Seneca to have the warrant signed. Officer Hunnicutt did not testify that he provided Judge Derrick with any additional information about the informant other than what was in the affidavit. R. 124, ll. 4-24.

The entire investigation of Appellant and the search warrant ultimately issued stemmed from this unreliable informant. There was no substantial basis for the magistrate in this case to have concluded that probable cause existed. Accordingly, the evidence obtained from Appellant’s

motel room during the execution of the search warrant should be suppressed and Appellant's convictions for possession of crack cocaine and a controlled substance reversed.

During the pre-trial hearing, the State relied upon State v. Dupree, 354 S.C. 676, 583 S.E.2d 437 (Ct. App. 2003) in support of its argument that the magistrate had a substantial basis for concluding probable cause existed to issue the search warrant. R. 15, ll 4-17.

In Dupree, the affidavit supporting the search warranted provided: "Within the past (72) hours, a confidential and first time informant of the Richland County Sheriff's Department has purchased crack cocaine from the described location. The informant was searched before and after the purchase and was observed by narcotics agents while making the purchase entering and exiting the location." 354 S.C. at 681, 583 S.E.2d at 439-40. The magistrate issued the search warrant and during the execution of the warrant the officers found crack cocaine. Id. at 681, 583 S.E.2d at 440. Defense counsel moved the trial court to suppress the crack cocaine seized pursuant to the search warrant arguing that the warrant was not supported by probable cause and lacked any indicia of reliability as to the informant's veracity or reliability. The trial court denied the defendant's motion to suppress. Id. at 681-82, 583 S.E.2d at 440.

In affirming the trial court's denial of the motion to suppress, this Court observed that "[a]n informant's controlled buy of drugs can constitute probable cause sufficient for a magistrate to issue a warrant." Id. at 687, 583 S.E.2d at 443. This Court further went on to state: "If the controlled buy was properly conducted, it alone can provide facts sufficient to establish probable cause for a search warrant." Id. at 689, 583 S.E.2d at 444. Based upon the totality of the circumstances, this Court held the affidavit in Dupree provided the magistrate with a substantial basis for finding probable cause to search the mobile home. This Court found that information provided by the confidential informant was corroborated by an independent police investigation where officers had set up a

controlled buy. The affidavit indicated that an officer searched the informant prior to the controlled buy. The officer observed the informant enter and exit the mobile home. The informant was searched again after the buy. These facts constituted sufficient police corroboration of the informant's information based upon the controlled buy, and the controlled buy was evidence of the credibility and trustworthiness of the informant. *Id.* at 690-91, 583 S.E.2d at 444-45. This Court therefore upheld the trial court's denial of the defendant's motion to suppress the crack cocaine and reiterated that "if a controlled buy is properly conducted, the *controlled buy alone* can provide facts sufficient to establish probable cause for a search warrant." *Id.* at 691; 583 S.E.2d at 445 (emphasis in original).

Unlike Dupree, there was no controlled buy in Appellant's case establishing probable cause for the search warrant. There was no indication in the affidavit that the confidential informant was searched prior to and after meeting Appellant. There was no indication in the affidavit that law enforcement observed the informant meeting with Appellant or even observed the informant leaving to meet with Appellant. From the limited information provided in this affidavit, there is no way of knowing whether the confidential informant in fact obtained any drugs from Appellant. The informant could have already been in possession of the drugs when he claimed to law enforcement that he received drugs from Appellant. The affidavit Officer Hunnicutt used to seek the search warrant of Appellant's motel room therefore lacks any indication of the confidential informant's reliability and did not provide the magistrate with a substantial basis for issuing the search warrant of Appellant's motel room.

The State also relied upon State v. Bellamy, 336 S.C. 140, 519 S.E.2d 347 (1999) in its argument to the Trial Court during the pre-trial hearing on the motion to suppress. R. 15, ll. 4-17. This case, like Dupree, is also distinguishable from the facts in Appellant's case.

In Bellamy, the police chief of Atlantic Beach requested the assistance of the State Law Enforcement Division ("S.L.E.D.") concerning a break-in at the Atlantic Beach Police Department in which weapons were stolen from the department. The police chief informed S.L.E.D. that an individual named Luther Stanley, who was already in jail on unrelated charges, had information about the missing weapons. 336 S.C. at 141, 519 S.E.2d at 347. A field officer with S.L.E.D. interviewed Stanley, and Stanley stated he had seen the weapons in a particular apartment in Atlantic Beach. Stanley, who had lived at the apartment for days at a time, gave the officer the names of the people who would normally be in the apartment, including the defendant's name. Id. The officer submitted the following affidavit in support of the search warrant:

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