ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Oconee County  
Honorable Alexander S. Macaulay, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2013-000663

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

DAN LAVERT TEMPLE,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

CHRISTINA T. ADAMS  
Solicitor, Tenth Judicial Circuit

100 South Main St.  
Anderson, SC 29624  
(864) 260-4046

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

SEP 09 2014

SC Court of Appeals

**

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

## ARGUMENT

**Any issue regarding the trial judge's denial of Appellant's pre-trial motion to suppress the evidence discovered during a search of his motel room was not preserved for appellate review because defense counsel waived any objection to the admission of that evidence by affirmatively indicating to the trial judge there were no objections to the admission of the evidence at the time it was introduced during trial. However, regardless of any issue preservation concerns, the trial judge properly declined to suppress the evidence discovered during the search of Appellant's motel room because the search warrant affidavit contained sufficient information to establish a reliable probable cause basis to believe crack cocaine and other incriminating evidence would be discovered in the motel room at the time of the search. Furthermore, even if the trial judge erred in finding the search warrant affidavit sufficiently established a probable cause basis for the search, the trial judge properly declined to suppress the evidence discovered in the search because the search warrant was obtained in good faith and was not so lacking in indicia of probable cause that belief in and reliance on its validity was unreasonable.**

Appellant alleges the trial judge erred in denying his motion to suppress the evidence recovered during the search of his motel room. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains the search warrant affidavit was insufficient to establish a probable cause basis for the search due to the fact it allegedly contained no information about the reliability of the confidential informant who supplied information to the law enforcement officers. Initially, any issue with Appellant's challenge to the trial judge's pre-trial ruling denying the suppression motion is not preserved for appellate review because defense counsel waived any objection regarding the admission of the crack cocaine and other incriminating evidence by indicating he had no objection to the admission of that evidence when it was introduced during trial. Accordingly, Appellant is precluded from now raising that issue on appeal. However, even if the issue had somehow been preserved for appellate review despite the lack of a contemporaneous objection to the admission of the evidence, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's suppression motion because the search warrant affidavit contained sufficient reliable information to establish a probable cause basis to believe crack cocaine and other incriminating evidence would

be found in Appellant's motel room at the time of the search. Furthermore, even if the search warrant had somehow been insufficient to establish probable cause, suppression of the evidence recovered in the search of the motel room was nonetheless not warranted because the search warrant was obtained in good faith and was not so lacking in indicia of probable cause that Investigator Hunnicutt's belief in its validity was unreasonable. Accordingly, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's suppression motion. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

#### **A. Issue Preservation**

In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004). Imposing issue preservation requirements on a party "is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments." I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 725 (2000); see, e.g., State v. Pauling, 322 S.C. 95, 100, 470 S.E.2d 106, 109 (1996) ("Having denied the trial judge an opportunity to cure any alleged error by failing to contemporaneously object to the charge, Appellant is procedurally barred from raising these issues for the first time on appeal."). "If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal." State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005).

Generally, a motion in limine seeks a pre-trial evidentiary ruling to prevent the disclosure of potentially prejudicial evidence to the jury, and a ruling on such a motion is preliminary and subject to change based on developments during trial. State v. Smith, 337 S.C. 27, 32, 522 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1999). A ruling on a motion in limine does not

constitute a final ruling on the admissibility of evidence. State v. Simpson, 325 S.C. 37, 42, 479 S.E.2d 57, 60 (1996). Therefore, an objection must be made at the time the evidence is introduced during trial in order to preserve the issue for appellate review. State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993). “However, where a judge makes a ruling on the admission of evidence on the record immediately prior to the introduction of the evidence in question, the aggrieved party does not need to renew the objection.” State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 642, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001); see State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 156-157, 679 S.E.2d 172, 175 (2009) (“This exception is based on the fact that when the trial court’s ruling is not preliminary, but instead is clearly a final ruling, there is no need to renew the objection.”).

In the case at bar, any issue with the admission of the crack cocaine and other evidence discovered during the search of Appellant’s motel room was not properly preserved for appellate review. At the outset of trial, Appellant filed a motion in limine seeking the suppression of the evidence discovered during the search. Then, following a pre-trial hearing on the suppression motion, the trial judge issued a preliminary ruling denying Appellant’s motion. Thereafter, when the solicitor moved to introduce the crack cocaine and other incriminating items into evidence later during trial, Appellant did not renew his pre-trial objection and, instead, affirmatively stated he had **no** objection to the admission of the evidence, which was then specifically admitted without objection by the trial judge. Cf. State v. Dicapua, 373 S.C. 452, 455, 646 S.E.2d 150, 152 (Ct. App. 2007) (“Dicapua's sole objection to the videotape came in the form of a motion in limine to suppress the videotape because of its lack of audio. Once the State moved to enter the videotape into evidence and publish it to the jury, however, Dicapua's counsel specifically stated he had ‘no objection.’ We find this amounted to a waiver of any issue

Dicapua had with the videotape.”). Accordingly, under those circumstances, Appellant’s pre-trial objection to the admission of the crack cocaine and other incriminating evidence was expressly waived, and the issue cannot properly be raised or reviewed on appeal. See Burke v. AnMed Health, 393 S.C. 48, 55, 710 S.E.2d 84, 88 (Ct. App. 2011) (“When a party states to the trial court that it has no objection to the introduction of evidence, even though the party previously made a motion to exclude the evidence, the issue raised in the previous motion is not preserved for appellate review.”); see also State v. Carlson, 363 S.C. 586, 595, 611 S.E.2d 283, 287 (Ct. App. 2005) (“A party cannot complain of an error which his own conduct induced.”); State v. Burton, 326 S.C. 605, 613, 486 S.E.2d 762, 766 (Ct. App. 1997) (“This testimony was admitted without objection. Because Burton failed to object, he is barred from raising this issue on appeal.”). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

#### **B. Propriety of the Search Warrant**

In South Carolina, an affiant seeking to obtain a search warrant must present a sworn affidavit to a judge presenting grounds sufficient to establish probable cause in order to justify the issuance of the warrant. State v. Bellamy, 336 S.C. 140, 143, 519 S.E.2d 347, 348-349 (1999); see S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 (“A warrant issued hereunder shall be issued only upon affidavit sworn to before the magistrate, municipal judicial officer, or judge of a court of record establishing the grounds for the warrant.”); see also Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983) (identifying probable cause as “a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found”). In State v. Williams, 262 S.C. 186, 189, 203 S.E.2d 436, 437-438 (1974), the South Carolina Supreme Court explained probable cause as it relates to the issuance of a search warrant:

In order to justify the issuance of a search warrant, probable cause must be shown, but the term 'probable cause' does not import absolute certainty. In determining whether there is sufficient evidence to sustain a finding of probable cause, each case stands on its own facts. The evidence need not be sufficient to support a conviction, or a verdict of guilty, or to establish guilt beyond a reasonable doubt; nor need the proof be positive, it being enough if it is such as to induce in the mind of the issuing officer an honest belief that the facts set forth exist, or as would lead a man of prudence to believe that the offense has been committed.

(citing State v. Bennett, 256 S.C. 234, 182 S.E.2d 291 (1971)).

In deciding whether to issue a search warrant, the issuing judge must "make a practical, common-sense decision whether, given all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit before him, including the 'veracity' and 'basis of knowledge' of persons supplying hearsay information, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place." Gates, 462 U.S. at 238. In making the probable cause determination, "[issuing judges] are concerned with probabilities and not certainties." State v. Sullivan, 267 S.C. 610, 617, 230 S.E.2d 621, 624 (1976).

Importantly though, the issuing judge must view the warrant affidavit in a common sense and realistic fashion and give consideration to the fact that such affidavits are typically prepared by non-lawyers in the haste of criminal investigations. State v. Arnold, 319 S.C. 256, 260, 460 S.E.2d 403, 405 (Ct. App. 1995).

Furthermore, in making such a probable cause determination in a case where an affiant relied upon information supplied by a confidential informant, the informant's veracity, reliability, and basis of knowledge are highly relevant towards a determination of the value of the informant's information. Gates, 462 U.S. at 238. However, those elements related to the informant are **not** "entirely separate and independent requirements to be rigidly exacted in every case" and, instead, "should be understood simply as closely intertwined issues that may usefully illuminate the commonsense, practical question

whether there is ‘probable cause’ to believe that contraband or evidence is located in a particular place.” Id. at 230.

When reviewing a decision to issue a search warrant, the reviewing court should decide whether the issuing judge had a substantial basis for concluding probable cause existed. State v. Dupree, 354 S.C. 676, 683, 583 S.E.2d 437, 441 (Ct. App. 2003). Applying the same standard as the issuing judge, the court should base its determination on the totality of circumstances. State v. Keith, 356 S.C. 219, 223, 588 S.E.2d 145, 147 (Ct. App. 2003). The issuing judge’s probable cause determination should be afforded great deference on appeal. State v. Rutledge, 373 S.C. 312, 316, 644 S.E.2d 789, 791 (Ct. App. 2007). Significantly, “[s]earches based on warrants will be given judicial deference to the extent that an otherwise marginal search may be justified if it meets a realistic standard of probable cause.” Id. “Suppression is appropriate in only a few situations, including when an affidavit is ‘so lacking in indicia of probable cause as to render official belief in its existence entirely unreasonable.’ ” State v. Weston, 329 S.C. 287, 293, 494 S.E.2d 801, 804 (1997) (quoting United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 923 (1984)).

In the case sub judice, the trial judge correctly found the search warrant was properly issued because the information contained in the search warrant affidavit – when viewed in a common sense fashion and in its totality – was sufficient to establish a reliable probable cause basis to believe crack cocaine and other incriminating evidence would be found in the targeted motel room at the time of the search. See State v. Thomas, 275 S.C. 274, 276, 269 S.E.2d 768, 769 (1980) (holding that courts should consider a “common-sense reading of the entire affidavit” in determining whether

probable cause exists). Accordingly, the trial judge properly denied the motion to suppress the evidence recovered during the search of the Appellant's motel room.

In challenging the propriety of the search warrant, Appellant contends the trial judge erred in denying his motion to suppress the incriminating evidence found pursuant to the search warrant because the search warrant affidavit allegedly failed to contain sufficient information to establish the reliability of the confidential informant. To the contrary, the search warrant affidavit contained sufficient information to establish the reliability of the confidential informant through the information regarding the informant's successful drug purchases from Appellant on multiple occasions coupled with the other information linking Appellant to the motel room and other illegal activity, including the possession of counterfeit money. See Dupree, 354 S.C. at 691, 593 S.E.2d at 445 (“The controlled buy was evidence of the credibility and trustworthiness of the informant.”); see also Bellamy, 336 S.C. at 145, 519 S.E.2d at 349 (finding a search warrant sufficiently established the confidential informant's reliability where, “[a]lthough the affidavit is weak on the element of the reliability of the informant, this deficiency is compensated for by the strong showing of specificity, first-hand observation, and partial corroboration”); see generally United States v. Colkley, 899 F.2d 297, 300 (4th Cir. 1990) (“An affiant cannot be expected to include in an affidavit every piece of information gathered in the course of an investigation.”); but see State v. Robinson, 408 S.C. 268, \_\_\_, 758 S.E.2d 725, 728 (Ct. App. 2014) (“We find, however, that Sergeant Donald's failure to include in his affidavit any evidence of the informant's reliability renders the warrant invalid.”). Critically, the statements in the affidavit indicated the informant successfully purchased crack cocaine – along with other controlled substances – from Appellant in the vicinity of the Town & Country Motel. The statements also indicated Appellant distributed

currency verified as counterfeit and was seen entering and exiting Room 103 of the Town & Country Motel. Thus, through the successful purchases of drugs from Appellant while under the direction of the law enforcement officers and the verification of Appellant's possession of counterfeit bills, the confidential informant's reliability was established, and there was probable cause to believe more crack cocaine, controlled substances, drug paraphernalia, and counterfeit bills would be found in a search of Appellant's motel room. See Gates, 462 U.S. at 233 (“[A] deficiency in [veracity or basis of knowledge] may be compensated for, in determining the overall reliability of a tip, by a strong showing as to the other, or by some other indicia of reliability.”); see, e.g., United States v. Anderson, 851 F.2d 727, 729 (4th Cir. 1988) (“[T]he nexus between the place to be searched and the items to be seized may be established by the nature of the item and the normal inferences of where one would likely keep such evidence.”); cf. State v. Viard, 276 S.C. 147, 150-151, 276 S.E.2d 531, 532 (1981) (“Affiant alleged his informant had been at the residence, saw drugs there within the past 72 hours, and purchased drugs during a controlled buy which field tested positive for depressants. We conclude the affidavit contained sufficient underlying facts and information upon which the magistrate made her independent determination of probable cause.”). As a result, the magistrate judge committed no error in issuing the search warrant, and the trial judge properly declined to suppress the evidence discovered during the search of Appellant's motel room.

However, even if the search warrant affidavit in Appellant's case did not sufficiently establish the confidential informant's reliability, the trial judge properly declined to suppress the evidence discovered as a result of the search because Investigator Hunnicutt acted in good faith in obtaining the search warrant and acted in

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